Development of Dendrimers: Macromolecules for Use in Organic Light-Emitting Diodes and Solar Cells

Shih-Chun Lo and Paul L. Burn*

Department of Chemistry, University of Oxford, Chemistry Research Laboratory, 12 Mansfield Road, Oxford OX1 3TA, United Kingdom

Received September 29, 2006

Contents

1. Introduction	1097
2. Organic Light-Emitting Diodes and Photovoltaic Cells	1098
3. Dendrimer Structure and Synthetic Strategy	1099
4. Saturated Dendrons	1102
5. Conjugated Dendrons	1103
5.1. Arylacetylenes	1103
5.2. Arylalkenes	1104
5.3. (Hetero)arylenes	1108
6. Siloles	1113
7. Conclusions	1114
8. References	1114

1. Introduction

Branched macromolecules or dendrimers have provided a rich seam of research in terms of both innovative chemistry and applications.^{1–14} For example, dendrimers have been studied for use as low-dielectric materials,¹⁵ as templates for the growth of single-wall carbon nanotubes,¹⁶ as catalysts,^{17–19} and in biological applications,^{20–23} including biosensors,²⁴ magnetic resonance imaging,^{25–28} and drug delivery.^{29–33} However, it has only been more recently that such macromolecular structures have been explored in terms of their electronic and optoelectronic properties, which is the focus of this series of reviews. For example, charge-transporting dendrimers have become an important class of organic semiconducting material³⁴ and significant effort has focused on light harvesting and energy transfer from a peripheral dve or chromophore to an emissive dye at the center or focus of the dendrimer.^{35–39} Organic semiconductors have become increasingly important as the active component in applications including organic light-emitting diodes (OLEDs),⁴⁰⁻⁴² transistors,^{43,44} photovoltaic (PV) cells,^{45,46} optical ampli-fiers,^{47,48} and lasers.^{49–51} Traditionally, organic semiconductors have fallen into two main classes, small molecules and polymers, and these materials and their applications will be covered in detail by other authors. Small molecules are generally processed by evaporation techniques and have the advantages that the structure-property relationships are relatively simple to understand, the materials are mono-(disperse), and they are deposited in a pure form. On the other hand, conjugated polymers are soluble and can be deposited from solution by processes such as spin-coating



Dr. Shih-Chun Lo carried out his chemistry studies (B.Sc. and M.Sc.) at National Chung-Hsing University in Taiwan. In 1996, he was awarded a prestigious Swire Scholarship to undertake research toward a Ph.D. at the University of Oxford under the supervision of Dr. Paul L. Burn and studied organic light-emitting diodes and solar cells using conjugated polymers. After graduating, he stayed in Oxford to carry out postdoctoral research. His recent research interests have focused on the development of dendritic organic materials for organic light-emitting diodes.



Dr. Paul L. Burn received his Ph.D. from the University of Sydney (Australia). In 1988 he moved to Cambridge University (U.K.) to carry out postdoctoral research in collaboration with Professors Friend and Holmes, and in 1989 he became the Dow Research Fellow at Christ's College, Cambridge. In 1992 he moved to a lectureship at the University of Oxford and a Tutorial Fellowship at University College, Oxford (U.K.), with an aim to develop semiconducting dendrimers. In May 2006 he was awarded a prestigious Federation Fellowship from the Australian Research Council, and from March 2007 will be Director of the new Centre for Organic Semiconductor Research at the University of Queensland (Australia).

and ink-jet printing, which opens up the exciting prospect of simple, fast, large-area, low-temperature device manufacturing. An additional advantage for conjugated polymers

^{*} To whom correspondence should be addressed. Telephone: (+) 44 (0)-1865 275643. E-mail: paul.burn@chem.ox.ac.uk.

is that solution processing is potentially less wasteful of material than evaporation for devices that require patterning. However, it is often difficult to control the polydispersity, molecular weight, backbone defects, and end groups of conjugated polymers reproducibly. Branched macromolecules, known as dendrimers, also have the advantage of being solution processable but by careful design can incorporate the control over the optoelectronic properties that is reminiscent of small molecules. In addition, the dendritic architecture provides a number of other attractive properties, including the ability to independently control the processing and optoelectronic properties; providing the processing power to enable simple chromophores to be deposited as stable amorphous films; dendrimer generation as a tool for controlling the intermolecular interactions that govern device performance; and the ability in well-defined dendrimers to have high chemical purity. In this review, we will focus on synthetic strategies that have been investigated for the preparation of optoelectronically active solution-processable dendritic materials and concentrate on two different applications, namely OLEDs and solar cells, in which they have been used. In the context of OLEDs, we limit the discussion to light emission, as branched macromolecules for charge transport will be discussed in the review by Shirota. We will also briefly comment on other recent light-emitting and -absorbing branched molecular materials that have been used in OLEDs and solar cells.

2. Organic Light-Emitting Diodes and Photovoltaic Cells

Before reviewing the design strategies and types of dendritic materials that have been developed for OLEDs and PV cells, it is instructive to have a brief discussion of the requirements that these applications place on the materials. The simplest OLED has the emissive layer sandwiched between two electrodes (Figure 1a).⁴¹ At the cathode, electrons are injected into the lowest unoccupied molecular orbital (LUMO), and at the anode, holes are injected into the highest occupied molecular orbital (HOMO). The two charges move through the layer under the applied bias, and if they meet on the same (macro)molecule, they can form an exciton which may decay to give out light with the color of the emitted light governed by the HOMO-LUMO energy gap of the material. To have an efficient OLED, it is necessary to have balanced charge injection (equal numbers of holes and electrons) and transport, capture of all the injected charges to form excitons, and radiative decay of all the excitons. This has not yet been achieved in OLEDs comprised of a single material, and hence, more complex devices are usually prepared (Figure 1b).^{52,53} Consequently, in order to balance hole and electron injection and transport, one or more extra layers are usually incorporated between the light-emitting layer and the cathode and/or the anode. For example, if the light-emitting layer transports holes predominantly, then at least one electron-transporting layer will be placed between the emissive layer and the cathode and vice versa. In the process of injecting charge (holes or electrons), it is not possible to control the spins of the electrons, and hence, when they meet on the same (macro)molecule, there is a certain probability that they form a singlet or triplet exciton. For small molecules, the ratio of singlets to triplets is 1:3,⁵⁴ while, for conjugated polymers, the ratio of singlets to triplets is believed to be greater, although triplets are still formed.⁵⁵ If the material is



Figure 1. Device structures illustrating: (a) a simple single-layer organic light-emitting diode (OLED) containing an organic light-emitting material (LEM); (b) a multilayer OLED with hole transport (HTL) and electron transport (ETL) layers designed to balance charge injection and transport [For each type of OLED, the LEM may be either a neat film or a guest/host blend, with the latter being especially important for simple phosphorescent molecules.]; (c) a dye-sensitized (Grätzel) photovoltaic cell; (d) a bulk heterojunction solar cell where the organic material is blended with an electron acceptor (EA).

fluorescent, then only the singlets can emit light, while if it is phosphorescent, both the singlets and triplets can be captured for light emission. Therefore, phosphorescent materials inherently have the potential to form the most efficient devices. While this has been demonstrated for red and green emitters,^{52,53} phosphorescent deep blue emitters are still a significant challenge. In a neat light-emitting layer, the chromophore that is responsible for light emission is generally also responsible for charge transport. This often leads to a trade-off between these two important properties. For good charge transport, close interactions of the chromophores are required. However, for light emission, interactions of the chromophores can lead to emission from aggregates or excimers. Excimer formation leads to a change of emission color and a reduction in the photoluminescence quantum yield (PLQY). Therefore, the ability to engineer the intermolecular interactions at a molecular level is critical. For small molecule phosphorescent emitters, the intermolecular interactions are controlled by blending the emitter in a host.^{54,55} As will be highlighted in this review, dendrimers are proving to be ideal materials for controlling these interactions at the molecular level for solution processed light-emitting materials. It is also important that the emissive chromophore has a high solid-state PLQY; that is, once the exciton is formed, it must decay, emitting a photon before being quenched by nonradiative processes within the device. Finally, it should be noted that not all light generated escapes out the front of the device, with a significant proportion, of order 80%, being wave-guided out of its edges. The best devices have internal quantum efficiencies approaching 100%; that is, for every injected electron, a photon is generated, and this corresponds to an external quantum efficiency of 20% based on a fifth of the light generated coming out the front of the device.

Photovoltaic cells act in the opposite way to OLEDs in that light is absorbed, the formed exciton is separated, and then the separated charges have to migrate to the electrodes



Figure 2. The well-defined dendrimer 1 has four dendrons (branching groups) attached to the rectangular core. The dendrimer is a secondgeneration dendrimer with one level of each of pentagon and triangle branching points. Such a dendrimer would be typically formed from a convergent route. Dendrimer 2 has randomness within its branching with different generations of branching within its structure. In both cases, S = surface groups.

without being quenched. The ideal material must have a high absorption coefficient and be able to absorb light with wavelengths that correspond to the solar spectrum. The exciton, formed on absorption of a photon of light, is relatively strongly bound, and hence, simple neat single layer devices tend to be very inefficient. As a consequence, more complex device structures are generally used, of which the dye sensitized (Grätzel) cell (Figure 1c)⁵⁶ and bulk heterojunction cells (Figure 1d) are the two most successful types.^{57,58} These two cell classes provide a large interface between materials of different electron affinities. In the Grätzel cell, a dye is absorbed onto an inorganic semiconductor such as titanium dioxide. On excitation, the electron from the exciton formed on the dye is transferred to the inorganic semiconductor and then hops to the electrode and travels around the circuit. The oxidized dye is then reduced via an electrolyte ready for another excitation. In a bulk heterojunction cell, instead of having the "layered" device structure, the materials with different electron and hole affinities are blended. When an exciton is formed on the holetransporting material (low electron affinity), the excited electron hops onto the high electron affinity material. The two charges then have to move through the layer by hopping between regions of their respective materials to the electrodes. The main materials used as electron acceptors in bulk heterojunction PV cells are fullerene derivatives, for example [6,6]-phenyl-C₆₁-butyric methyl ester (PCBM). In both cell types, high charge mobility is required, but unlike the case of OLEDs, there is not a tradeoff between charge transport and purity of light emission and so materials can be optimized for the former property. Nevertheless, it is important to note that the efficiency of a cell is dependent on how well the absorption and solar spectra are matched. The best power conversion efficiencies (η) reported for bulk heterojunction cells and Grätzel cells are now over 5%58 for the former and around 11% for the latter.⁵⁹ It is important to note that comparison of efficiencies of PV cells is somewhat difficult due to the different reporting methods. For example, some results are only reported for single wavelengths while others are at low incident light intensities. For ease of comparison, the overall power conversion efficiency (η) should be quoted for devices of similar size under air mass 1.5 global intensity (AM1.5) conditions,

which simulate the solar spectrum and have an incident light power of 100 mW/cm^{2.59}

3. Dendrimer Structure and Synthetic Strategy

Dendritic materials are branched macromolecules that can be divided into two main classes: (1) those that have welldefined structures and are characterized by a polydispersity of one (1 in Figure 2) and (2) those that have structures where there is randomness within the branching (2 in Figure 2), which often leads to larger dispersity in the molecular weight. In both cases, several key units-the core, the dendrons that contain branching points between which one or more linking groups may be found, and, optionally, surface groups-define the structures. In random highly branched materials, it might be difficult to elucidate the position of the core although it can be defined as the unit that provides the first level of branching. The electroactive or optoelectronic moieties in a dendritic structure may be found at the core of the macromolecule or within the branching and/or linking groups or at their distal ends. The position of the active chromophores will be governed by the desired application. For example, light-emitting dendrimers that are used in OLEDs generally have their emissive chromophore at the core of the structure. Dendrimers are defined by the number of different levels of branching, that is, the generation number, and while this is easily determined for structures of type 1 in Figure 2, it is less easily done for the type 2 structures.

The two main synthetic strategies applied to the formation of dendrimers are the convergent^{60,61} and divergent routes.^{62–67} In a convergent synthesis the dendrimer is built from the surface or outside inward. The advantages of the convergent route are well-known and include the following: the number of reactions at each iteration to form a higher generation is limited to the number of active functional groups on each branching point; the surface groups can be included early in the synthesis and hence can impart solubility throughout the dendrimer synthesis; and purification is more straightforward, as a missing branch will impart a larger difference on the size and polarity of the dendrimer. This procedure gives rise to a structure that is precisely defined, is monodisperse, is of high purity, and is without ill-defined end groups. One criticism that has been made of the convergent route is that

















Figure 3. Light-emitting dendrimers with "charge-transporting" moieties at their surfaces (4-8) and a light-emitting chromophore at the core (3-8 and 10). Dendrimer 10 has triazinyl branching groups in the dendrons.

it gives rise to slow growth. This is true, and if high generations were needed, then the convergent route creates a problem. However, for dendrimers to be of commercial use in optoelectronic applications, the development of high generations is not needed, with the functionality being incorporated into low-generation materials. In contrast, the divergent route builds the dendrimer from the inside out. In terms of optoelectronic materials, the divergent route has three distinct disadvantages. First, as the generation number increases, the number of "individual" reactions also increases, meaning that there can often be unreacted functional groups or end groups (in polymer terminology). Given that the control of end groups is vitally important in conjugated polymer performance, the introduction of a potentially large number of end groups is of critical concern for dendritic materials. This can be obviated to a certain extent if only low-generation materials are prepared. Nevertheless, the purity and polydispersity of the dendrimers prepared via the divergent route will be more difficult to control than those prepared via the convergent process. To avoid as many unreacted end groups, it is necessary to use reactions that are very high yielding. This immediately places a limit on the number of different reaction types that can be used, and ultimately on the range of useful dendritic materials that can

be made. Finally, the functionality of the surface group plays a critical role in the processing of the dendrimers. An optoelectronic dendrimer often requires that its structure has a significant number of conjugated units, which generally have low solubility in the absence of solubilizing groups. Solubilizing groups have the most effect on the surface of the dendrimer, and hence, introducing them late in the synthesis will create difficulties during the reaction and purification of the intermediate stages. An advantage of the divergent route is that if there is complementary functionality on different branching points, then it is very easy to form very large structures, sometimes termed "hyperbranched" polymers. However, these dendritic materials are structurally poorly defined, they are polydisperse, and the issue of end groups becomes critical.

In order to provide some structure to the discussion, the review will divided into the main functionality that is found in the branching framework or dendrons and the dendrimers will be discussed under two different general headings, namely saturated and conjugated branched structures. For the sake of clarity, different dendrimer types will be illustrated with low-generation structures although in many cases higher generation materials have also been developed.

4. Saturated Dendrons

There are many studies on dendrimers that are comprised of electronic chromophores but have saturated (nonconjugated) linkages.⁶⁸ The main types of linkages used have involved benzyl ethers (Fréchet), esters, amines, or amides. While there are many studies on the photophysical properties of the materials, there are fewer instances where such materials have been incorporated into devices. Three general structural types have been developed for light-emitting dendrimers for use in OLEDs. The first structural type of dendrimer has had electrically insulating flexible dendrons, with the chromophore that is responsible for light emission and charge transport buried in the center (3 in Figure 3). $^{69-72}$ The dendrimers were generally prepared using a convergent route. For example, in the case of 3, the Fréchet dendrons were synthesized first with the final step being formation of the dendrimer by the reaction of a 1,4-phenylenedimethylene diphosphonate with an aldehyde focused Fréchet dendron. The devices based on the dendrimer were not very efficient, and this is in part due to the saturated dendrons. Evidence for the potentially detrimental effects of having simple saturated dendrons attached to an emissive core comes from a study of dendrimers based on structures similar to 3 but having differing numbers of dendrons. For single layer devices (ITO/dendrimer:PVK/Al) [ITO = indium tin oxide; PVK = poly(vinylcarbazole); Al = aluminium] with the different dendrimers blended at the same molar concentration in PVK, the device containing the dendrimer with only one dendron attached to the emissive core had higher current densities than that with two dendrons. In addition, the device containing the higher generation dendrimer generally had lower efficiencies.⁷³ That is, the greater the amount of insulating material, the poorer the performance. This study on the effect of the number of dendrons attached to the emissive core raises an important point about dendrimer structures that is further illustrated by the dendrimers in Figure 3. Dendrimers 4 and 5 have only one dendron attached to the core whereas dendrimers 3 and 6 have two. As will be seen later, the number of dendrons attached to a lightemitting chromophore can play an important role in controlling the important interactions that govern device performance.

The second approach to light-emitting dendrimers with saturated dendrons also has the emissive chromophores at the core of the dendrimer. However, charge-transporting moieties are introduced at the surface of the dendrimer⁷⁴ in an effort to overcome the poor charge transport (for example 4^{75} 5,⁷⁶ and 6^{77} in Figure 3). The dendrimers contain ester and ether linkages and were prepared via convergent routes with the emissive chromophore added at the focus of the dendrimer in the final step. The initial OLEDs containing these dendrimers as the light-emitting layer showed only modest performance in simple device structures. For example, devices containing dendrimer 5 were reported to have external quantum efficiencies of 0.12% at undefined brightness in the red region.⁷⁶ More recently, the strategy of having charge-transporting groups at the surface of the dendrimer has been further elaborated with high-generation dendrimers (up to generation five) being synthesized with coumarin 343 or pentathiophene dyes at the core.⁷⁸ In the case of the latter, the dendrons were attached to both ends of the chromophore. An important feature of these materials is that by encapsulating the cores in the higher generation dendrimers, it is possible to tune the color of emission by

blending the coumarin 343 and pentathiophene cored dendrimers in different ratios, as the higher energy excitons formed on the coumarin 343 cored dendrimer are not completely transferred to the lower energy red emissive pentathiophene chromophore due to site isolation. The devices again showed modest performance with the best results for a three-layer device (ITO/PEDOT:PSS/dendrimer: $PBD/BCP/Alq_3/LiF/Al)$ [PEDOT:PSS = poly(3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene):poly(styrene sulfonate); PBD = 2-(4biphenylyl)-5-(4-*tert*-butylphenyl)-1,3,4-oxadiazole; BCP = 2,9-dimethyl-4,7-diphenyl-1,10-phenathroline; $Alq_3 = tris$ -(9-hydroxyquinolate)aluminum(III); LiF = lithium fluoride], which had the fifth-generation thiophene cored dendrimer blended with an electron-transporting material (PBD) and electron transport layers (BCP and Alq₃) to assist in balancing charge injection and transport. The device had a maximum external efficiency (EQE) of 0.76% and a power efficiency of 0.59 lm/W at a brightness of 100 cd/m². The incorporation of dendrimers with charge-transporting moieties at their surfaces has also been studied in the context of phosphorescent emitters. Phosphorescent emitters have the advantage in that both the singlets and triplets formed in the device can be captured, leading to more efficient OLEDs. For example, a fac-tris(2-phenylpyridyl)iridium(III) cored dendrimer with dendrons comprised of carbazole moieties linked by ethylene units has been prepared (7 in Figure 3). The device structure investigated was (ITO/PEDOT:PSS/7/Ca/ Al) [Ca = calcium], with the emissive layer being comprised of neat dendrimer or a blend with PBD. The devices containing the neat dendrimer films had much broader emission spectra than the blended films, indicating strong intermolecular interactions of the emissive cores in the solid state. However, very good device performance (EQE = 7.6%at around 5 V and a brightness of 20 cd/m²) was achieved when the dendrimers were blended with the electrontransporting PBD.⁷⁹ Europium(III) complexes with carbazole moieties at the surface of the dendrons have also been reported (for example 8 in Figure 3).^{80,81} Interestingly, instead of observing the red emission normally associated with the f-f transitions of the europium(III) complexes, the emission was white due to there being more than one emissive species: the europium itself and excimer or exciplex emission caused by interaction of the carbazole surface groups and the carbazole-containing host material.⁸⁰

The final structural type has the emissive chromophore at the surface of the dendrimer. If the chromophore is also the charge-transporting moiety, then this structure type has the potential advantage of good charge transport, as the chromophores should be close together. However, this has to be traded off against potential concentration quenching of the luminescent chromophores. These effects have been studied with a series of poly(amidoamine) (PAMAM) dendrimers with ruthenium complexes at their surfaces (for example 9 in Figure 3). While there was little change in the solution PLQY between dendrimer generations, it was found that, in the solid-state, moving from the first- to the third-generation dendrimer, the charge mobility decreased due to the large proportion of insulating material, and the EQE of the devices (ITO/dendrimer/Au) [Au = gold] at a given voltage decreased by a factor of 2 to 0.05%. This decrease in device efficiency is most probably due to self-quenching of the chromophores in the solid state.82

For all dendrimers, the branching groups play an important role, and in terms of aromatic branching groups, the phenyl



Figure 4. First-generation propylene imine-based dendrimer 11 with four porphyrins at its periphery. The solubility of the dendrimer is imparted by the 3,5-di-*tert*-butylphenyl groups on the *meso* positions of the porphyrin rings.

ring is most commonly used. Two other aromatic branching groups have been investigated with saturated dendrons. Triazine moieties at first sight are an excellent choice for branching groups.^{83,84} 1,3,5-Trichlorotriazine is a commonly used reagent, and each of the chlorine groups can be substituted sequentially with nucleophiles such as oxygen, nitrogen, and sulfur. The substitution of each chlorine atom with one of the nucleophiles deactivates the next chlorine atom toward substitution, and hence, the branching group can be chemoselectively substituted with three different groups. The first example of using this strategy for lightemitting dendrimers was in the preparation of 10 (Figure 3). 10 was formed by a convergent route where the two methoxy groups were added first to the 1,3,5-triazine trichloride with the final chlorine atom of 2 equiv of the dimethoxychlorotriazine derivative being substituted by the more stable phenoxy anions of 3,5-dihydroxybenzaldehyde. Using the more stable anion in the final substitution meant that the methoxy groups were not displaced.⁸⁵ The synthesis of distyrylbenzene chromophore was completed by the coupling of 2 equiv of the aldehyde focused dendrons with tetramethyl-1,4-phenylenedimethylene diphosphonate. Films of 10 were reasonably luminescent with a film PLQY of 31%, although the devices were not particularly efficient.⁸⁵ This and more recent work has suggested that some triazinebased dendrimers do not have suitable stability for optoelectronic devices and, hence, while attractive from a synthetic point of view, may be impractical from a device standpoint.56 More recent work on dendrimers with pyrimidine branching units has shown that they can also be easily synthesized and have better stability than the corresponding triazine branched dendrimers.⁸⁷ Triazole moieties have also been used as branching groups in aryl ether- or amine-based dendrons, although the photophysical and device properties of materials containing these branching points have not yet been studied.88,89

The study of dendrimers containing saturated dendrons in PV devices is still very much in its infancy. There have been a number of reports of saturated dendrimers containing porphyrins.^{90–93} One set of reports describes a family of materials based on propylene imine dendrimers with porphyrins at their periphery (**11** in Figure 4).^{92,93} The den-

drimers were prepared by a divergent route with the 2-aminoporphyrins coupled onto the surface groups of the preformed dendrimer using a diamide linking unit. The coupling was efficient enough for the formation of a thirdgeneration dendrimer that had 16 porphyrin rings added to the surface; that is, all the surface groups reacted. The porphyrin-propylene imine dendrimer showed enhanced absorptivity when compared with that of nondendritic porphyrin reference material. Bulk heterojuction cells were prepared where the porphyrin-propylene imine dendrimers were blended with C₆₀ and the incident photon to photocurrent conversion efficiency (IPCE) values of the devices containing the low-generation porphyrin-capped dendrimers were found to be higher than those of the devices comprised of the simple porphyrin. Interestingly, the efficiency of the devices using the higher generation dendrimers was less than those of the lower generation ones and the simple porphyrin. This was attributed to poorer $\pi - \pi$ interactions of the C₆₀ with the porphyrin rings in the high-generation dendrimer matrix due to steric crowding. In a Grätzel-like cell using nanostructured tin oxide, a maximum IPCE value of 15% was observed for the blend containing the low-generation dendrimer 11, and an overall power conversion efficiency (η) of 0.32% with a visible light input power of 6.2 mW/ cm² was reported. Finally, a Grätzel-type cell with fullerene units spaced by first-generation amido amine (PAMAM) dendrimers has also been described. It was found that the IPCE and η of the cell increased logarithmically with the number of fullerene layers with the η for the device with three fullerene layers being 0.13% at an incident light power of 42.5 mW/cm².94

5. Conjugated Dendrons

5.1. Arylacetylenes

The main arylacetylene structural unit investigated for dendrimers is that based on phenylacetylene. Elegant syntheses of phenylacetylene-based dendrimers (phenyl branching points and acetylene linkers) have been widely reported. In spite of the structural variations, the main method used for their preparation is based on Sonogashira chemistry^{95–97}

and a convergent strategy. The main reason for the use of the convergent route is that it allows the introduction of surface groups at the beginning of the synthesis that provides solubility to what are otherwise poorly soluble conjugated materials. It is important to note that the conjugated and linear nature of the phenylacetylene moiety means at low generations the dendrimers can adopt a relatively planar form in the solid state. However, high generation dendrimers cannot adopt a planar arrangement in the solid state due to steric interactions.98 One of the main emphases of the work on phenylacetylene-based dendrimers has been to develop materials for the study of energy transfer. This is where the dendrimer is excited primarily at a chromophore at the surface of the dendrimer and the energy is then transferred to a chromophore with a smaller HOMO-LUMO energy gap at the core. Dendrimers have been prepared that have been comprised only of the diphenylacetylene moieties, that is with a single acetylene unit between each phenyl branching point of the dendrimer (12 in Figure 5) or several phenylacetylene units between the branching phenyls. If the attachment of the three acetylene units is meta around the branching phenyl, then although the dendrimers are fully conjugated, the electrons are not fully delocalized. This gives rise to a similar effect to that observed for the dendrimers with saturated linkers whereby the macromolecular dendritic structure is comprised of individual chromophores. If two of the acetylene units are *para* to each other on the branching phenyl unit, then this gives rise to extended conjugation within the branching component of the dendrimer (13 inFigure 5).^{99,100} It is important to note that the modular nature of dendrimer synthesis allows great creativity and flexibility in structure; that is, different components can be incorporated into the same dendron structure to form "asymmetric dendrimers". For example, dendrimer 14 (Figure 5) contains both benzyl ether (Fréchet) and diphenylacetylene units and is prepared using a mixture of Williamson ether synthesis and Suzuki and Sonagashira reactions.101

However, in spite of the extensive synthesis and photophysical studies on dendrimers containing acetylene units, there have been few reports of their use in optoelectronic devices. The first reported OLEDs with a light-emitting dendrimer layer contained materials with structures based on 12 (Figure 5) with diphenylacetylene moieties in the dendrons and a 9,10-di(phenylethynyl)anthracene core.¹⁰² Although the OLEDs emitted light, the emission was broad, indicative of excimer emission, and no efficiency data was reported, suggesting that they did not work particularly well. The excimer emission arises from the planarity of the phenylacetylene-containing dendrimers allowing the emissive chromophores to interact strongly in the solid state. The incorporation of hole-transport diphenylamine groups in place of the *tert*-butyl groups on the surface of the dendrimer¹⁰² or the inclusion of the electron-transporting oxadiazole units¹⁰³ did not significantly improve the efficiency of the devices. For example, an OLED (ITO/PEDOT:PSS/15/Al-Li alloy) [Li = lithium] comprised of 15 (Figure 5) with the electron-transporting oxadiazole units and the same emissive 9,10-di(phenylethynyl)anthracene core as 12 had an external quantum efficiency of 0.02% at an unspecified brightness. At this time there have been no reports of solar cells that contain dendrimers with acetylene units as the main linking units within the structure.

5.2. Arylalkenes

Arylalkene-based dendrimers have been one of the most widely studied families of dendrimers with trans-stilbenyl (E-stilbenyl) moieties within the branching framework playing a major role in the structures. The conjugated nature of the E-stilbenyl moieties has also meant that surface groups are required to facilitate purification and processing of the materials. Like the phenylacetylene-based dendrons and dendrimers at low generation (first and second), the Estilbenyl dendrons are mostly planar, and it is not until the third generation that steric interactions cause a more significant distortion from planarity. Most of the dendrimers containing the E-stilbenyl-based dendrons have had the optoelectronically active component at the core of the dendrimer,¹⁰⁴ although there have been a few reports where the active moiety is at their surface.^{105–107} The problem with this latter approach for luminescent materials is that chromophores are able to interact easily, leading to quenching of luminescence. There are two main convergent strategies reported for forming E-stilbenyl-based dendrimers: first, the components can be connected by forming the double bond using Wittig-type chemistry^{108,109} and, second, the vinyl unit can be added directly to the next aryl unit using palladiumcatalyzed chemistry.^{110–113} Both these processes have been successfully utilized in convergent syntheses. Recently, an alternative approach to stilbenyl dendrons has been reported in which the basic dendron framework is built up with sulfur linkages and then oxidation of the sulfides to sulfones followed by a series of Ramburg-Backlund reactions is used to introduce the vinylene moieties late in the synthesis.¹¹⁴ While this method successfully gave first- and secondgeneration dendrimers, it could not be used to form higher generation materials. This was due to the fact that the reagents in the Ramburg-Backlund reaction could not reach the reactive sites buried in the larger structures. To make optoelectronic dendrimers, the normal route has been to make the dendrons first and then use functionality at the foci of the dendrons to form the dendrimer. This method gives rise to reproducible syntheses of mono(disperse) materials. Examples of dendron syntheses leaving reactive functionality at the foci of the dendrons are illustrated in Scheme 1. Dendron 16 (Scheme 1) has been prepared by coupling bisphosphonate 17 with aldehyde 18 in a Wittig-Horner reaction. Deprotection of the acetal at the foci of 16 to leave an aldehyde then allows an iterative buildup of higher generation dendrons or reactions to form a core.¹⁰⁸ An alternative approach to similar dendrons with aldehydes at their focus has been achieved using Heck methodology. In this case a styrene, for example 19 (Scheme 1), is reacted with 3,5-dibromobenzaldehyde (20) to give the dendron 21 with an aldehyde at its focus.¹¹⁰ This can then be converted to a vinyl unit to allow the iterative procedure to occur and higher generations to be formed. A similar strategy has been utilized but replacing the 3,5-dibromobenzaldehyde with 3,5diiodoaniline with the amine moiety subsequently elaborated to allow for further coupling reactions.¹¹⁵ An elegant variation on the synthesis of such dendrons utilizes sequential Heck and Wittig-Horner reactions with the advantage of this latter procedure being that high-generation dendrons are prepared in a small number of steps.¹¹⁶

In terms of dendrimers with the optoelectronic component at the center, as stated earlier, the functionality at the foci of the dendrons plays an important role, as it provides the means of creating the core chromophore. For example, the





Figure 5. Acetylene-containing dendrimers with *meta* (12) and *para* (13) arrangements around the phenyl branching groups, an "asymmetric" dendrimer with benzyl ether and acetylene components (14), and a dendrimer containing oxadiazole electron-transporting moieties (15).

Scheme 1. Examples of Wittig-Horner and Heck Approaches to E-Stibenyl Dendrons with Reactive Functionality at Their Foci^{*a*}



^{*a*} (i) Potassium *t*-butoxide, tetrahydrofuran;¹⁰⁸ (ii) *trans*-di(μ -acetato)bis[*o*-(di-*o*-tolylphosphino)benzyl]dipalladium(II), 2,6-di-*tert*-butylcresol, anhydrous *N*,*N*-dimethylacetamide, Ar, \approx 130 °C.¹¹⁰

aldehyde moiety at the focus of **21** has been used to form light-emitting dendrimers with chromophores that emit different color light. This is illustrated by the reaction of **21** with tetramethyl-1,4-phenylenedimethylene diphosphonate that gave a blue emissive distyrylbenzene chromophore at the center of dendrimer **22** (Scheme 2) while condensation with pyrrole gave red emissive dendrimer **23** (Scheme 2) with a porphyrin core.¹¹⁰

For application in OLEDs, dendrimers with E-stilbenyl dendrons and fluorescent emissive cores have been used to illustrate many of the key light-emitting dendrimer properties. The first property illustrated is the ability to independently control the processing and emissive properties. For example, while 22 and 23 emit blue and red light, respectively, they can both be processed under the same conditions to give good quality thin films. Second, while there are many chromophores that are fluorescent in solution, they cannot generally be processed to form amorphous thin films and their luminescence is often quenched in the solid state. For example, distyrylbenzene itself cannot be spin-coated to form good quality amorphous films and it is the dendritic architecture of 22 that provides the processing power. That is, the use of dendrimers opens up a wider range of chromophores that can be used in devices. Third, dendrimer generation is a powerful tool for controlling the intermolecular interactions that govern OLED performance. In OLEDs, there is often a trade-off between charge transport and light emission. For good charge transport, the chromophores need to be close together so the hopping distance is short. However, if the charge-transporting chromophores are also responsible for emitting light, then close proximity can lead to aggregate formation and excimer emission. By using dendrimer generation, these key interactions can be controlled at the molecular level. The effect of generation was first studied on three generations of dendrimers with distyrylbenzene chromphores (22 is the first generation in the series).¹¹⁷ For this family of dendrimers, it was found that the device efficiency was greater for the higher generations than for the first generation. It was also found that while the emission spectrum of the first generation was quite broad due to excimer emission, the spectra of the higher generations narrowed as the dendrons protected the emissive chromophore of the dendrimers and reduced the intermolecular interactions that lead to excimer emission. The improvement in the device performance could have been due to a decrease in nonradiative decay pathways and/or more balanced charge

injection and transport. To elucidate a more precise reason for the improved device performance four generations of dendrimers with the same dendrons as 22 but with fluorescent tris(distyrylbenzene)amine chromophores (24 in Figure 6) were prepared.¹¹⁸ In these latter dendrimers, it was found that charge was directly injected into the tris(distyrylbenzene)amine chromophores at the center of the dendrimers and that the mobility of the injected holes decreased by a factor of 100 in going from the "zeroth-" to third-generation dendrimer.^{119,120} That is, as the hopping distance between the chromophores increased with generation, the mobility of the holes decreased. The change in mobility was accompanied by a concomitant increase in the light-emitting device efficiency, providing the first direct evidence that generation could control charge mobility and give improved device performance given that the film PLQYs of the materials were similar.¹¹⁸ Finally, the *E*-stilbenyl dendronized dendrimers were used to illustrate the importance of the connectivity of the components. While the dendrons of 22, 23, and 24 are fully conjugated, the electrons are not fully delocalized due to the meta arrangement around the branching phenyl rings, similar to the meta arranged phenylacetylene-based dendrons. This strategy of "connectivity" has also been utilized with the emissive chromophores. For example, the dendrimers with tris(distyrylbenzene)amine chromophores have the orbital density distributed across the three distyrylbenzenylamine "chromophores"¹²¹ but the equivalent tris-(distyrylbenzene)benzene cored dendrimer (25 in Figure 6) has each of the distyrylbenzenylbenzene moieties as individual chromophores because of the meta arrangement around the central phenyl ring.¹²²

As with the optoelectronic dendrimers with saturated dendrons, the common branching group used for the arylalkene dendrimers has been the phenyl ring. However, there has been one report of a branched macromolecule that has a single triazine moiety as the branching unit at its center with three phenylenevinylene chromophores extending from it and long liphophilic alkoxy chains to give it solubility.¹²³ In addition, nitrogen (**26** in Figure 6)¹²⁴ and carbon atoms (**27** in Figure 6)¹²⁵ and triazines (although the triazines are substituted by three aryl units, **28** in Figure 6)¹²⁶ have also been used as branching moieties with arylalkene dendrimers. It is interesting to note that the dimensionality of **27** will be different from that of **22** due to there being three substituents around the vinyl moiety. This arrangement means that the dendrons cannot be planar at low generations unlike the Scheme 2. Examples Showing How the Functionality at the Focus of the Dendron Can Be Used To Create Blue (22) and Red (23) Emissive Chromophores at the Center of a Dendrimer^{*a*}



^{*a*} (i) Potassium *tert*-butoxide, anhydrous tetrahydrofuran, rt, N₂ followed by iodine, toluene, Δ; (ii) dry dichloromethane, catalytic trifluoroacetic acid, rt, followed by 2,3-dichloro-5,6-dicyano-1,4-quinone.¹¹⁰

dendrimers containing the *E*-stilbenyl units. While many of the dendrimers are formed via convergent routes, one interesting divergent synthesis of dendrimers with carbon branching units constructed with alternating vinylene and acteylene units utilizes a combination of Wittig and Sonagashira reactions. The synthetic strategy requires the coupling of two *p*-formylacetylenes with a 1,1-dibromo-2phenylalkene using a Sonogashira reaction. The aldehydes are then reacted with triphenylphosphine and carbon tetrabromide in the next iterative step to introduce the 1,1dibromovinylene unit ready for the next Sonagashira reaction.¹²⁷

The triazine units in dendrimers such as **28** (Figure 6) were designed to improve electron transport, although two-layer devices (ITO/PVK/dendrimer/Al:Li) only had modest EQEs in the range $\approx 0.03-0.5\%$. Finally, in terms of light-emitting dendrimers with arylalkene dendrons, the first phosphores-cent dendrimer OLED contained a platinum-chelated porphyrin core and *E*-stilbenyl dendrons; that is, **23** chelated with platinum(II). The device was not very efficient, as the *E*-stilbene dendrons were found to quench the phosphores-cence.¹²⁸

All the syntheses discussed thus far have given rise to mono(disperse) materials. A number of highly branched arylalkene-based materials have also been investigated. There are two main strategies for making highly branched materials. The first is to have two or more monomer units, one of which must have at least three functional groups that can react with the two or more functional groups on the other monomer-(s). The second method is to have the complementary reactive groups on the same monomer. The reactions are often defined by the number and/or type of reactive groups on each of the momoners. For example, an AxBy-type reaction can be used to describe a monomer unit that contains x functional groups of type A and v functional groups of type B. Alternatively, and somewhat confusingly, the notation can also be used to describe a reaction that involves monomers of type A and B, which have x and y reactive groups, respectively. The simplest arylalkene structure is 29 (Figure 7), which is only comprised of phenyl and vinylene units.¹²⁹ **29** was prepared by Heck reaction of 1-bromo-3,5-divinylbenzene (an AB₂type monomer) in yields of up to 50% and an $M_{\rm w}$ of 9000. However, unlike the convergent route to well-defined dendrimers that have a polydispersity of one, the polydispersity of **29** was 2.7 and the material had reactive surface groups. Surprisingly, even in the absence of lipophilic solubilizing groups, the material had sufficient solubility for solution processing. The solubility of 29 is in contrast to that of linear poly(1,4-phenylenevinylene), which is completely insoluble in common solvents. The solubility of 29 is probably due to the branched nature of the material causing twists in the structure and hence making it more difficult to $\pi - \pi$ stack in the solid state. Although the materials showed good solution PLQYs, they have not yet been incorporated into device structures. A similar branched phenylenevinylene material has been synthesized via Wittig reaction of the AB₂ unit, 3,5-diformylbenzyltriphenylphosphonium bromide.¹³⁰ This second strategy has further been elaborated to produce materials with alkoxy substituents on the inner phenyl ring^{131,132} and pyridyl or dimethylaminophenyl groups at the end of the branches. The latter materials have been used in OLED structures, which have had, at best, modest performance.133,134 A complex highly branched arylenevinylene structure has also been formed by the Heck reaction of 30 and **31** (Figure 7). The material thus formed had the relatively high $M_{\rm w}$ of 6.0 \times 10⁴ and the low polydispersity of 1.1 and had good solubility, with the latter attributed to the lipophilic alkoxy groups. Bilayer devices (ITO/dendrimer/Alq₃/Al) had a luminous efficiency of around 0.33 cd/A at a brightness of 500 cd/m^2 and 6.3 V.

There has been very little work on dendritic materials with arylalkene units for photovoltaic devices thus far. One



Figure 6. Amine- and phenyl-centered dendrimers, and phenyl, amine, and triazine branching groups.

material that has been synthesized has had *meta*-linked dendrons comprised of stilbene units with dialkyamine surface groups (for example **32** in Figure 7) or alkoxynapthyl chromophores at the distal ends of the dendrons covalently attached to C_{60} . Although charge separation of the exciton was shown to occur upon excitation, a necessary step in PV cell operation, no device performance was reported.¹³⁵

5.3. (Hetero)arylenes

The final main class of dendrimers used in opto-electronic applications are those in which the branched components

are comprised of (hetero)aryl-(hetero)aryl connectivity. In terms of OLED applications, these materials have proved to be the most successful and give highly efficient devices. Unlike arylacetylene- and arylalkene-based dendrons that tend to be planar at low generations, one of the key advantages of the (hetero)arylene-(hetero)arylene dendrons is that they form a more nonplanar geometry even at low generations due to the steric interactions of the substituents *ortho* to the (hetero)arylene-(hetero)arylene bond. The fact that the dendrons are nonplanar even at low generations means that control over the intermolecular interactions of



Figure 7. Highly branched phenylenevinylene structure (29) and starting materials (30 and 31) that can be used to form such materials. A dendronized C_{60} (32).

the chromophores at the centers of the dendrimers is greater even for lower generation dendrimers. Many of the (hetero)arylene–(hetero)arylene materials are prepared by palladium catalysis methods, and a number of these will be illustrated. The main family of dendritic materials comprised of (hetero)arylene–(hetero)arylene components have the dendrons made of phenyl units connected to each other, and these can be further subdivided into Müllen-type dendrons with four or five phenyl rings and those with three phenyl units^{136–138} around the branching phenyl ring. The synthesis of Müllentype dendrimers has been widely reported and reviewed, although, in the context of their use in optoelectronic applications, there have been far fewer reports. The most successful light-emitting dendrimers for OLED applications have had iridium(III) complexes as the cores, to which three or more phenylene-based dendrons are attached.^{139,140} The dendrimers are prepared via a convergent route whereby the dendrons are first synthesized and then attached to the ligand, which is subsequently complexed to the iridium(III) metal.¹⁴¹ For example, the phosphorescent green emissive dendrimer **33** (Figure 8) was prepared in a convergent manner, in which the first step was the attachment of the solubilizing 2-ethylhexyl groups to *p*-bromophenol. A series of metalation and boronate ester formation and Suzuki couplings gave the dendronized 2-phenylpyridyl ligand in good overall yield before complexation with the iridium(III).¹⁴¹ By changing the ligand structure but keeping the same dendrons, it is also possible to achieve phosphorescent dendrimers with red^{142,143} and sky-blue emission.¹⁴⁴ These phosphorescent dendrimers gave rise to highly efficient OLEDs due to their ability to capture both the singlets and triplets that are formed in the devices as well as controlling the intermolecular interactions that govern charge transport and light emission. In addition, the *meta* linking of the phenyl units meant that the triplet energy of the dendrons was sufficiently high to avoid quenching of the phosphorescent cores. For example, the green emissive dendrimer 33 when blended in a host and used in a bilayer device achieved a brightness of 400 cd/m² at 4.5 V, with a corresponding EQE of 16% and a power efficiency of 40 lm/W.¹⁴⁵ This is very close to the theoretical limit of efficiency of 20% based on an outcoupling of a fifth of the light generated in the device. More recently, highly efficient two-layer devices with a neat dendrimer emissive layer and an electron-transport layer have also been reported whereby the attachment of a dendron to both (hetero)aryl components of the ligand (34, Figure 8) encapsulated the charge-transporting and emissive core.¹⁴⁰ This latter device (Figure 8) is the simplest and most efficient OLED containing a solution-processed light-emitting layer.

Müllen-type dendrons¹⁴⁶ as a component of phosphorescent dendrimers have been less widely investigated. Dendrimers with Müllen-type dendrons are of interest for controlling the important intermolecular interactions, as they are more highly branched than those used for 33 and 34. The strategy used for the synthesis of such dendrimers is a combination of the Diels-Alder chemistry developed by Müllen and that used for the preparation of 33. That is, an acetylated 2-phenylpyridyl ligand is reacted with 2,3,4,5-tetraphenylcyclopentadienone and then the dendronized ligand is complexed to the iridium(III). The first light-emitting phosphorescent dendrimers, for example 35, with Müllen dendrons suffered from poor solubility due to the lack of surface groups.¹⁴⁷ More recently, this has been overcome by the attachment of surface groups to dendrons, leading to very efficient devices (EQE > 10%) when the dendrimers were blended with 4,4'bis(N-carbazolyl)biphenyl (CBP).148

Fluorescent dendrimers with both the simple phenylene dendrons used for **33**, for example **36** and **37**,¹⁴⁹ and Müllen dendrons have also been reported. An important feature in the syntheses of **36** and **37** is that the same dendron type used for the preparation of **33** and **34** could also be used in their preparation. That is, the boronic acid or boronate ester focused dendrons were reacted with 2-(3-bromophenyl)-pyridine to give the ligand for **33** and were reacted with bis-2,2'-(7-bromo-9,9-di-*n*-hexylfluorene) and 2-(5-bromothiophenyl)-7-bromofluorene to give **36** and **37**, respectively. This demonstrates the advantage of the modular nature of dendrimer construction. That is, it is possible to have libraries of dendrons and cores with different combinations of



Figure 8. Phosphorescent (33-35) and fluorescent (36-38) dendrimers with phenyl-based dendrons, and the structure of the efficient two-layer OLED containing a neat film of 34 and a 1,3,5-tris(2-*N*-phenylbenzimidazolyl)benzene (TPBI) electron-transporting layer. R = 2-ethylhexyl.

components being drawn from the libraries to give rapid access to new dendrimers. Interestingly, **36**, with the bis-fluorenyl core, emits a deep blue fluorescence while the fluorenyl—thiophenyl-cored dendrimer **37** gives a blue-white emission. The emission of **36** is deeper blue than normally required for displays, but as **36** and **37** have the same dendrons and surface groups, they can easily be blended. An important feature of the devices that contained blends of the two materials was that as the ratio of the two light-emitting components changed, the color of the emitted light varied between the two limits of the devices containing the neat materials.^{149,150} Fluorescent dendrimers with simple phenlyene dendrons without surface groups have also been used in OLEDs. For example, two first-generation phenylene dendrons, similar to **33** but without the 2-ethylhexyloxy

surface groups, were attached to the 9 and 10 positions of anthracene.¹⁵¹ The lack of surface groups also meant that the dendrimers needed be blended with PVK to allow processing, and devices with an electron-transporting moiety in the blend gave good performance for a blue emissive material, with maximum external quantum and luminous efficiencies of 1.5% and 1.5 cd/A, respectively. Dendrimer **38** (Figure 8) is an example of a first-generation Müllen dendronized blue fluorescent emitter. The best fluorescent device containing **38** (ITO/PEDOT:PSS/PVK:**38**/BCP/LiF/Al) as the emissive material had an external quantum efficiency of 1.6%. The need for PVK as a host again probably arose from the fact that the materials were not very soluble, due to the lack of surface groups, similar to the case of **35**.¹⁵² High-generation Müllen dendronized dendrimers



Figure 9. Carbazole-containing phosphorescent dendrimers. R = 2-ethylhexyl.

with perylenetetracarboxidiimide cores have also been reported.¹⁵³ Alkyl surface groups were attached to make the dendrimers solution processable. Single-layered OLEDs gave reddish orange emission with low efficiency (0.14 cd/A). Interestingly, the turn-on voltage (when light is observed) of the OLEDs was found to be dependent on the generation, with the higher generation having the higher turn-on voltage. This is due to the fact that the phenylene dendrons are electrically insulating and the higher generations are shielding the electroactive core and slowing charge injection and transport.

A final method for forming phenyl branching groups that has only been explored a little is based on condensation chemistry. For example, acetophenone can be condensed with Lewis acid catalysis to give 1,3,5-triphenylbenzene. This type of chemistry has been used to prepare the core precursor for 25^{154} and, more recently, truxene-based dendrimers in excellent yield, although OLEDs based on these latter dendrimers were not very efficient (EQE = 0.16%).¹⁵⁵

An interesting development in (hetero)arylene-based dendrons has been driven by the use of phosphorescent emitters in OLEDs. The most efficient OLEDs based on small molecular phosphorescent emitters all have the emitter blended in a host matrix with a majority of the hosts containing carbazole units, for example, CBP and TCTA [TCTA = 4,4',4''-tris(N-carbazolyl)triphenylamine].^{54,55,145} The host can play a role both in charge transport and in preventing quenching of the luminescence caused by aggregation of the emissive species. The dendritic architecture can achieve the same role of the host in terms of controlling intermolecular interactions, and hence, it was logical to develop dendrons comprised of carbazole units and attach them to the phosphorescent core. As seen earlier in the review, there are examples of this strategy whereby the carbazoles are anchored and connected via nonconjugated ethylene linkages.⁷⁹ A couple of iridium(III) complex-cored dendrimers with conjugated carbazole-containing dendrons have also been reported (39 and 40 in Figure 9).^{156,157} One of the key results of changing the phenyl-based dendrons to carbazole dendrons, for example, moving from 33 to 39, was that the hole mobility was found to be enhanced for the latter. The explanation for this was reported to be that the HOMO orbital density is distributed more onto the dendron in the case of **39** compared to **33**, making it simpler for the charge to hop from one dendrimer and/or dendron to next.¹⁵⁶ Bilayer devices (ITO/PEDOT:PSS/40/TPBI/LiF/Al) [TPBI = 1,3,5tris(2-N-phenylbenzimidazolyl)benzene] containing a neat emissive dendrimer film of 40 showed good performance with an external quantum efficiency of 8.8% at 100 cd/m² and 3.5 V.157 Carbazole dendrons have also been attached

to porphyrin¹⁵⁸ and ruthenium complex cores,¹⁵⁹ although they have not been used in optoelectronic devices as yet.

There have been a large number of reports of well-defined branched macromolecules with (hetero)arylene chromophores that contain just a single branching atom or group at the center of the material. For example, silicon¹⁶⁰ and nitrogen atoms^{161,162} and silsesquioxane,¹⁶³ phenyls,^{164,165} truxenes,^{155,166} triazatruxenes,^{167,168} triazines,¹⁶⁹ and porphyrins^{170,171} have been used. While the chemistry for the attachment of the chromophores to the center of the material varies, the chromophores themselves are generally synthesized by various metal-catalyzed reactions. Although the photophysical properties of many of the materials have been studied, few attempts have been made to incorporate them into device structures. One bilayer OLED (ITO/NPD/41/Ca) [NPD = 4,4'-bis(N-{1-napthyl}-N-phenylamino)biphenyl] containing 41 (Figure 10), prepared by vacuum deposition, gave blue emission with an EQE of 1.2% at 10 V.172 In a second example, single-layer devices (ITO/PEDOT:PSS/42/Ba/Al) [Ba = barium] containing spin-coated triazatruxene 42 (Figure 10) gave good blue emissive devices with Commission Internationale d'Eclairge (C.I.E.) 1931 color coordinates of (0.15, 0.09) and a maximum EQE and luminous efficiency of 2.0% and 2.1 cd/A, respectively, at a brightness of 602 cd/m² (29 mA/cm² and 11.7 V).¹⁶⁸ Finally, (hetero)arylenebased dendrimers with a central branching point and organometallic complexes (platinum and ruthenium) at the surface have been prepared, although the OLEDs have tended to be relatively inefficient.173,174

All the (hetero)arylene-based materials described thus far have been well-defined materials with a polydispersity of one. As with the arylalkene moiety, highly branched arylenebased dendrimers have also been synthesized using palladium- or nickel-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions.¹⁷⁵⁻¹⁷⁷ For example, a one-pot Suzuki coupling of 43 and 44 (Figure 11) led to highly branched materials with \overline{M}_{w} 's in the range of $4-12 \times 10^{4}$.¹⁷⁶ As with a majority of these types of syntheses, the materials formed tend to have larger polydispersities than those prepared via a convergent methodology. For example, materials prepared from an A₂A'₂B₃ combination of monomers (where A_2 and A^\prime_2 are dibromo and diboronate ester fluorenyl derivatives, respectively, and B₃ is a tribromooxadiazole derivative) utilizing palladiumcatalyzed Suzuki coupling reactions have been reported to have polydispersities of 2.4–2.6 and $M_{\rm w}$'s of 3.7–4.7 \times 10⁴.¹⁷⁸ Importantly, in both studies, it was recognized that the materials suffered from the presence of a large number of reactive end groups. These were reacted with complementary reagents in the final steps of the syntheses in an attempt to fully cap the end groups with unreactive func-



Figure 10. Materials with single branching units at the center (41 and 42) and starting materials to form highly branched arylene-based dendrimers (43 and 44).



Figure 11. Thiophene-containing dendritic materials and dendron.

tionality.^{176,178} The best OLEDs based on the highly branched materials were reported to have a maximum EQE of 2.5% (ITO/PEDOT:PSS/dendrimer/Ca) although the brightnesses were not reported.¹⁷⁹

Thiophene has a smaller HOMO–LUMO energy band gap than benzene, and oligothiophenes can have good charge transport due to efficient packing in the solid state. Therefore, dendritic thiophenes have been recently investigated for photovoltaic applications. Both well-defined (for example **45a,b** in Figure 11)¹⁸⁰ and highly branched¹⁸¹ materials have been synthesized with the former utilizing Stille reactions and the latter utilizing nickel-catalyzed couplings for their formation. For the dendrimers based on **45**, it is important to note that the extended thiophene units of **45b** (n = 3) offered better overlap of the absorption with the solar spectrum and enhanced hole mobility. A power conversion efficiency (η) of 1.3% at AM1.5 has been reported for a PV cell containing **45b** blended with PCBM (ITO/**45b**:PCBM/Al).¹⁸² A number of well-defined branched macromolecules with triphenylamine or tris(thieno)benzene cores and thiophene-containing arms have also been reported and used in PV cells. For example, bilayer PV cells with **46** (formed



Figure 12. Silole-based materials.

in a divergent manner using Stille, Vilsmeier-Haack, and condensation reactions) had a maximum power conversion efficiency (n) of 1.0% at AM1.5 in a bilayer device (ITO/ $46/C_{60}/AI$).¹⁸³ A similar material but with pervlene moieties at the distal ends when blended with PCBM had an η of 0.25% in a nonoptimized device (ITO/PEDOT:PSS/dendrimer:PCBM/Al).¹⁸⁴ A good performance, $\eta = 1.3\%$, was reported for the branched thiophene 47 in a heterojunction solar cell with a pervlene electron-accepting layer (ITO/ PEDOT:PSS/47/perylene/LiF/Al), although this was at low incident light intensity (1.9 mW/cm²).¹⁸⁵ The enhanced performance was attributed to improved light absorbance, horizontal orientation of the materials to the electrode surface, and increased π -electron delocalization. Nevertheless, these results are still significantly below those of the best oligo and poly(thiophene) PV devices. An interesting photovoltaic material has thiophene-based dendrons (for example 48 in Figure 11) with a phosphonic acid at its focus complexed to CdSe nanocrystals.¹⁸⁶ Single-layer photovoltaic cells (ITO/ 48:CdSe/Al) showed initial power conversion efficiencies of 0.29% at an illumination intensity of 0.14 mW/cm².

6. Siloles

An interesting class of branched molecules are those based on the silacyclopentadiene moiety. Simple examples of this type of material are 49 and 50 (Figure 12), and they are notable due to the fact that their photoluminescence is increased in the solid state and they have electron-transporting characteristics due to the lowered LUMO. The solution photoluminescence quantum yields of 49 and 50 were 30% and 13%, respectively, while the film PLQYs were significantly higher at 78% and 85%, respectively. The improvement on luminescence in the solid is opposite to that normally seen for emissive chromophores, where the emission decreases in the solid state, and this difference has been attributed to the emission coming from an aggregate.¹⁸⁷ Devices incorporating 50 have been reported to have external quantum efficiencies ranging from 0.65%¹⁸⁸ to up to 8% (20 cd/A) (ITO/CuPc/TPD/**50**/Alq₃/Al) [CuPc = copper phthalocyanine; TPD = 4,4'-bis(N-3-methylphenyl-Nphenyl)biphenyl].^{189,190} An external quantum efficiency of 8% for a singlet emitter with a small molecule chromophore is more than would normally be expected. 50 has a film photoluminescence quantum yield of 85%, and taking into account the standard singlet to triplet ratio of 1:3 and an

out-coupling of light of 20%, the maximum external quantum efficiency should be 4.5%. The higher efficiency observed is not fully understood but could come from the fact that emission arises from an aggregate, which perhaps changes the ratio of singlet to triplet formation or gives a much greater out-coupling of the light. Further evidence for the importance of the aggregation for light emission from these materials comes from studies of highly branched silole-containing materials. In the highly branched materials, which pack less well in the solid state, there was no aggregate-enhanced emission.¹⁹¹ The branched silacyclopentadienes and their structural variants are relatively easily made, and the syntheses often include acetylene-based substrates.^{192,193} For example, when diphenylacetylene is treated with lithium and then silicon tetrachloride, the dichlorosilacyclopentadiene (51 in Figure 12) is formed. The two chlorine atoms can be easily substituted to give different derivatives. For example, reaction of 51 with 2 equiv of the phenylacetylide anion gave the diphenylacetylene derivative, which was cyclized with lithium naphthalide with the subsequent dianion trapped as the bis-zinc salt of a spirosilole. Palladium chemistry was then used to introduce further functionality to the spirosilole, for example, to form 52 (Figure 12). The performance of OLEDs based on the silole materials has been found to be sensitive to the variations in the light-emitting silole structure. The more heavily derivatised spirosilole materials were less luminescent in the solid state than the parent silole, giving rise to less efficient devices although this may also be in part due to the different device structures. For example, an OLED containing 52 (ITO/NPB/52/LiF/Al) [NPB = N,N'bis(1-napthyl)-N,N'-diphenylbenzidine] had a moderate efficiency of 2.0 cd/A at a brightness of 4350 cd/m^{2.192} In contrast a device containing 53, which is similar to 52 but without the tetraphenylspirosilole, gave yellow-green emission with a maximum efficiency of 27 Cd/A and 6 lm/W in a single layer device (ITO/PEDOT/53/Ca)¹⁹⁴ while introduction of one or two (54 in Figure 12) carbazoles onto the phenyl rings attached to the silicon atom reduced the aggregate-enhanced emission and gave less luminescent materials and OLEDs.¹⁹⁴ Interestingly, **54** blended with Alq₃ has also been used in a PV cell (ITO/NPB/Alq₃:54/Alq₃/ LiF/Al), giving an η of up to 2.2% at low illumination power.194

7. Conclusions

The application of dendrimers to new technology areas continues to grow apace. While very large dendrimers have been made, such high-generation materials are probably not needed for many applications and especially for optoelectronic applications. The branched structure and modular synthesis nature of dendrimers means that the required functionality can be introduced at low generations. This has been vividly demonstrated with charge-transporting and lightemitting dendrimers that have been used in OLEDs. The chemistry used to synthesize the optoelectronic dendrimers is generally straightforward, and utilization of the convergent route ensures that surface groups are present to provide solubility during both the synthesis and the processing and ensures that there are no reactive functional groups remaining that can lead to device degradation. In comparing the device performance of well-defined dendrimers versus highly branched materials at this stage, the former have given the superior performance in device applications. While the development of light-emitting dendrimers is much advanced and has now reached the stage where they are considered as the third class of light-emitting materials, their use in other applications is still in its infancy and there is much yet to be explored and developed. In particular, for each application, the shape, generation, and components of the dendrimer need to be optimized to overcome the factors that limit device performance. In addition, while the work on light-emitting dendrimers has shown that high-efficiency devices can be formed, it is important to recognize that the efficiency of performance is only one factor and that the devices must also have commercially relevant lifetimes. This latter aspect is one of the great challenges to making dendrimers technologically relevant for semiconductor applications.

8. References

- (1) Grimsdale, A. C.; Klaus, K. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 5592.
- (2) Tomalia, D. A. Prog. Polym. Sci. 2005, 30, 294.
- (3) Berresheim, A. J.; Müller, M.; Müllen, K. Chem. Rev. 1999, 99, 1747.
- (4) Fréchet, J. M. J. J. Polym. Sci., Part A: Polym. Chem. 2003, 41, 3713.
- (5) Ceroni, P.; Bergamini, G.; Marchioni, F.; Balzani, V. Prog. Polym. Sci. 2005, 30, 453.
- (6) Burn, P. L.; Lo, S. C.; Samuel, I. D. W. Adv. Mater., in press.
- (7) Zeng, F.; Zimmerman, S. C. Chem. Rev. 1997, 97, 1681
- (8) Schenning, A. P. H. J.; Meijer, E. W. Chem. Commun. 2005, 3245.
- (9) Smith, D. K.; Hirst, A. R.; Love, C. S.; Hardy, J. G.; Brignell, S. V.; Huang, B. Prog. Polym. Sci. 2005, 30, 220.
- (10) Tomalia, D. A. Mater. Today 2005, 8 (3), 34.
- (11) Tomalia, D. A.; Huang, B.; Swanson, D. R.; Brothers, H. M., II; Klimash, J. W. Tetrahedron 2003, 59, 3799.
- (12) Thelakkat, M. Macromol. Mater. Eng. 2002, 287, 442.
- (13) Entwistle, C. D.; Marder, T. B. Chem. Mater. 2004, 16, 4574.
- (14) Caminade, A. M.; Majoral, J. P. Acc. Chem. Res. 2004, 6, 341.
- (15) Lee, B.; Park, Y. H.; Hwang, Y. T.; Oh, W.; Yoon, J.; Ree, M. Nature Mater. 2005, 4, 147.
- (16) Amama, P. B.; Maschmann, M. R.; Fisher, T. S.; Sands, T. D. J. Phys. Chem. B 2006, 110, 10636.
- (17) Ribourdouille, Y.; Engel, G. D.; Richard-Plouet, M.; Gade, L. H. Chem. Commun. 2003, 1228.
- (18) Delort, E.; Darbre, T.; Reymond, J. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 15642.
- (19) Hoover, N. N.; Auten, B. J.; Chandler, B. D. J. Phys. Chem. B 2006, 110, 8606.
- (20) Nishiyama, N.; Iriyama, A.; Jang, W.; Miyata, K.; Itaka, K.; Inoue, Y.; Takahashi, H.; Yanagi, Y.; Tamaki, Y.; Koyama, H.; Kataoka, K. Nature Mater. 2005, 4, 934.
- (21) Lee, C. C.; MacKay, J. A.; Fréchet, J. M. J.; Szoka, F. C. Nature Biotechnol. 2005, 23, 1517.
- (22) Percec, V.; Dulcey, A. E.; Balagurusamy, V. S. K.; Miura, Y.; Smidrkal, J.; Peterca, M.; Nummelin, S.; Edlund, U.; Hudson, S.

D.; Heiney, P. A.; Duan, H.; Magonov, S. N.; Vinogradov, S. A. Nature 2004, 430, 764.

- (23) Li, Y.; Tseng, Y. D.; Kwon, S. Y.; D'Espaus, L.; Bunch, J. S.; McEuen, P. L.; Luo, D. Nature Mater. 2004, 3, 38.
- (24) Mynar, J. L.; Lowery, T. J.; Wemmer, D. E.; Pines, A.; Fréchet, J. M. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 6334.
- (25) Toth, E.; Pubanz, D.; Vauthey, S.; Helm, L.; Merbach, A. E. Chem.-Eur. J. 1996, 2, 1607.
- (26) Kobayashi, H.; Kawamoto, S.; Star, R. A.; Waldmann, T. A.; Tagaya, Y.; Brechbiel, M. W. Cancer Res. 2003, 63, 271.
- (27) Fulton, D. A.; Elemento, E. M.; Aime, S.; Chaabane, L.; Bottad, M.; Parker, D. Chem. Commun. 2006, 1064.
- (28) Mynar, J. L.; Lowery, T. J.; Wemmer, D. E.; Pines, A.; Fréchet, J. M. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 6334.
- (29) Gillies, E. R.; Fréchet, J. M. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 14137.
- (30) Aulenta, F.; Hayes, W.; Rannard, S. Eur. Polym. J. 2003, 39, 1471.
- (31) de Groot, F. M. H.; Albrecht, C.; Koekkoek, R.; Beusker, P. H.;
- Scheeren, H. W. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 4490. (32) Amir, R. J.; Pessah, N.; Shamis, M.; Shabat, D. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 4494.
- (33) Li, S.; Szalai, M. L.; Kevwitch, R. M.; McGrath, D. V. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 10516.
- (34) Shirota, Y. J. Mater. Chem. 2005, 15, 75.
- (35) Lor, M.; Thielemans, J.; Viaene, L.; Cotlet, M.; Hofkens, J.; Weil, T.; Hampel, C.; Müllen, K.; Verhoeven, J. W.; van der Auweraer, M.; De Schryver, F. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 9918.
- (36) Qu, J.; Pschirer, N. G.; Liu, D.; Stefan, A.; De Schryver, F. C.; Müllen, K. Chem.-Eur. J. 2004, 10, 528.
- (37) Ghaddar, T. H.; Wishard, J. F.; Thompson, D. W.; Whitesell, J. K.; Fox, M. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 8285.
- (38)Braun, M.; Atalick, S.; Guldi, D. M.; Lanig, H.; Brettreich, M.; Burghardt, S.; Hatzimarinaki, M.; Ravanelli, E.; Prato, M.; van Eldik, R.; Hirsch, A. Chem.-Eur. J. 2003, 9, 3867.
- (39) Gutierrez-Nava, M.; Accorsi, G.; Masson, P.; Armaroli, N.; Nierengarten, J. F. Chem.-Eur. J. 2004, 10, 5076.
- (40) Tang, C. W.; Van Slyke, S. A. Appl. Phys. Lett. 1987, 51, 913.
- (41) Burroughes, J. H.; Bradley, D. D. C.; Brown, A. R.; Marks, R. N.; Mackay, K.; Friend, R. H.; Burn, P. L.; Holmes, A. B. Nature 1990, 347, 539
- (42) Friend, R. H.; Gymer, R. W.; Holmes, A. B.; Burroughes, J. H.; Marks, R. N.; Taliani, C.; Bradley, D. D. C.; Dos Santos, D. A.; Bredas, J. L.; Logdlund, M.; Salaneck, W. R. Nature 1999, 397, 121. (43) Sariciftci, N. S. Mater. Today 2004, 7 (9), 37.
- (44) Tang, C. W. Appl. Phys. Lett. 1986, 48, 183.
- (45) Tsumura, A.; Koezuka, H.; Ando, T. Appl. Phys. Lett. 1986, 49, 1210. (46) Reese, C.; Roberts, M.; Ling, M. M.; Bao, Z. Mater. Today 2004, 7 (9), 20.
- (47) Lawrence, J. R.; Turnbull, G. A.; Samuel, I. D. W. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2002, 80, 3036.
- (48) Lawrence, J. R.; Turnbull, G. A.; Samuel, I. D. W.; Richards, G. J.; Burn, P. L. Opt. Lett. 2004, 29, 869.
- (49) Tessler, N. Adv. Mater. 1999, 11, 363.
- (50) McGehee, M. D.; Heeger, A. J. Adv. Mater. 2000, 12, 1655.
- (51) Samuel, I. D. W.; Turnbull, G. A. Mater. Today 2004, 7 (9), 28.
- (52) Adachi, C.; Baldo, M. A.; Forrest, S. R.; Lamansky, S.; Thompson, M. E.; Kwong, R. C. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2001, 78, 1622
- (53) Baldo, M. A.; Lamansky, S.; Burrows, P. E.; Forrest, S. R.; Thompson, M. E. Appl. Phys. Lett. 1999, 75, 4.
- (54) (a) Baldo, M. A.; O'Brien, D. F.; Thompson, M. E.; Forrest, S. R. Phys. Rev. B 1999, 60, 14422. (b) Adachi, C.; Baldo, M. A.; Forrest, S. R.; Lamansky, S.; Thompson, M. E.; Kwong, R. C. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2001, 78, 1622.
- (55) (a) Wilson, J. S.; Dhoot, A. S.; Seeley, A. J. A. B.; Khan, M. S.; Köhler, A.; Friend, R. H. *Nature* **2001**, *413*, 828. (b) Baldo, M. A.; Lamansky, S.; Burrows, P. E.; Forrest, S. R.; Thompson, M. E. Appl. Phys. Lett. 1999, 75, 4.
- (56) Grätzel, M. Prog. Photovoltaics 2000, 8, 171.
- (57) Brabec, C. J.; Sacrificiti, N. S.; Hummelen, J. C. Adv. Funct. Mater. 2001, 11, 15.
- (58) Brabec, C. J. Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells 2004, 83, 273.
- (59) Grätzel, M. Chem. Lett. 2005, 34, 8.
- (60) Berresheim, A. J.; Müller, M.; Müllen, K. Chem. Rev. 1999, 99, 1747.
- (61) Grayson, S. M.; Fréchet, J. M. J. Chem. Rev. 2001, 101, 3819.
- (62) Hawker, C. J.; Wooley, K. L. Science 2005, 309, 1200.
- (63) Buhleier, E.; Wehner, W.; Vögtle, F. Synthesis 1978, 155.
- (64) Newkome, G. R.; Gupta, V. K.; Baker, G. R.; Yao, Z. Q. J. Org. Chem. 1985, 50, 2003.
- (65) de Brabander-van den Berg, E. M. M.; Meijer, E. W. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1993, 32, 1308.
- (66) Worner, C.; Mulhaupt, R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1993, 32, 1306.
- (67) Tomalia, D. A. Aldrichim. Acta 1993, 26, 91.
- (68)Soomro, S. A.; Benmouna, R.; Berger, R.; Meier, H. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 3586.

- (69) Kwok, C. C.; Wong, M. S. Macromolecules 2001, 34, 6821.
- (70) Kwok, C. C.; Wong, M. S. Chem. Mater. 2002, 14, 3158.
- (71) Matsui, M.; Tanaka, S.; Funabiki, K.; Kitaguchi, T. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 2006, 79, 170.
- (72) Sun, J.; Wang, L.; Yu, X.; Zhang, X. Eur. Polym. J. 2005, 41, 1219.
- (73) Kwok, C. C.; Wong, M. S. Thin Solid Films 2002, 417, 136.
- (74) Du, P.; Zhu, W. H.; Xie, Y. Q.; Zhao, F.; Ku, C. F.; Cao, Y.; Chang, C. P.; Tian, H. *Macromolecules* **2004**, *37*, 4387.
- (75) Gilat, S. L.; Adronov, A.; Fréchet, J. M. J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1999, 38, 1422.
- (76) Freeman, A. W.; Koene, S. C.; Malenfant, P. R. L.; Thompson, M. E.; Fréchet, J. M. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 12385.
- (77) Pan, J.; Zhu, W.; Li, S.; Zeng, W.; Cao, Y.; Tian, H. Polymer 2005, 46, 7658.
- (78) Furuta, P.; Brooks, J.; Thompson, M. E.; Fréchet, J. M. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 13165.
- (79) Tsuzuki, T.; Shirasawa, N.; Suzuki, T.; Tokito, S. Jpn. J. Appl. Phys. 2005, 44, 4151.
- (80) Li, S.; Zhong, G.; Zhu, W.; Li, F.; Pan, J.; Huang, W.; Tian, H. J. Mater. Chem. 2005, 15, 3221.
- (81) Kimoto, A.; Cho, J. S.; Ito, K.; Aoki, D.; Miyake, T.; Yamamoto, K. Macromol. Rapid Commun. 2005, 26, 597.
- (82) Barron, J. A.; Bernhard, S.; Houston, P. L.; Abrunã, H. D.; Ruglovsky, J. L.; Malliaras, G. G. J. Phys. Chem. A 2003, 107, 8130.
- (83) Takagi, K.; Hattori, T.; Kunisada, H.; Yuki, Y. J. Polym. Sci., Part A: Polym. Chem. 2000, 38, 4385.
- (84) Steffensen, M. B.; Hollink, E.; Juschel, F.; Bauer, M.; Simaner, E. E. J. Polym. Sci., Part A: Polym. Chem. 2006, 44, 3411.
- (85) Lupton, J. M.; Hemingway, L. R.; Samuel, I. D. W.; Burn, P. L. J. Mater. Chem. 2000, 10, 867.
- (86) Verheyde, B.; Maes, W.; Dehaen, W. Mater. Sci. Eng. C 2001, 18, 243.
- (87) Maes, W.; Amabilino, D. B.; Dehaen, W. Tetrahedron 2003, 59, 3937.
- (88) Maes, W.; Verstappen, B.; Dehaen, W. *Tetrahedron* **2006**, *62*, 2677.
- (89) Murase, T.; Fujita, M. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 9269.
- (90) Li, W. S.; Jiang, D. L.; Suna, Y.; Aida, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 7700.
- (91) Choi, M. S.; Aida, T.; Luo, H.; Araki, Y.; Ito, O. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 4060.
- (92) Hasobe, T.; Kashiwagi, Y.; Absalom, M. A.; Sly, J.; Hosomizu, K.; Crossley, M. J.; Imahori, H.; Kamat, P. V.; Fukuzumi, S. *Adv. Mater.* 2004, *16*, 975.
- (93) Hasobe, T.; Kamat, P. V.; Absalom, M. A.; Kashiwagi, Y.; Sly, J.; Crossley, M. J.; Hosomizu, K.; Imahori, H.; Fukuzumi, S. J. Phys. Chem. B 2004, 108, 12865.
- (94) Bustos, E.; Manríquez, J.; Echegoyen, L.; Godínez, L. A. Chem. Commun. 2005, 1613.
- (95) Rodríguez, J. G.; Esquivias, J.; Lafuente, A.; Díaz, C. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 8120.
- (96) Nishimura, Y.; Kamadaa, M.; Ikegami, M.; Nagahata, R.; Arai, T. J. Photochem. Photobiol., A: Chem. 2006, 178, 150.
- (97) Yamaguchi, Y.; Ochi, T.; Miyamura, S.; Tanaka, T.; Kobayashi, S.; Wakamiya, T.; Matsubara, Y.; Yoshida, Z. I. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 4504.
- (98) Xu, Z. F.; Moore, J. S. Acta Polym. 1994, 45, 83.
- (99) Peng, Z. H.; Pan, Y. C.; Xu, B. B.; Zhang, J. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 6619.
- (100) Pan, Y.; Lu, M.; Peng, Z.; Melinger, J. S. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 6952.
- (101) Kozaki, M.; Okada, K. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 485.
- (102) Wang, P. W.; Liu, Y. J.; Devadoss, C.; Bharathi, P.; Moore, J. S. Adv. Mater. 1996, 8, 237.
- (103) Cha, S. W.; Choi, S. H.; Kim, K.; Jin, J. I. J. Mater. Chem. 2003, 13, 1900.
- (104) Diez-Barra, E.; Garcia-Martinez, J. C.; del Rey, R.; Rodriguez-Lopez, J.; Giacalone, F.; Segura, J. L.; Martin, N. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 3178.
- (105) Kwon, T. W.; Alam, M. M.; Jenekhe, S. A. Chem. Mater. 2004, 16, 4657.
- (106) Díez-Barra, E.; García-Martinez, J. C.; Merino, S.; del Rey, R.; Rodríguez-López, J.; Sanchez-Verdú, P.; Tejeda, J. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 5664.
- (107) Zhang, X. H.; Choi, S. H.; Choic, D. H.; Ahn, K. H. Tetrahedron Lett. 2005, 46, 5273.
- (108) Meier, H.; Lehmann, M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1998, 37, 643.
- (109) Segura, J. L.; Gómez, R.; Martin, N.; Guldi, D. M. Org. Lett. 2001, 3, 2645.
- (110) Pillow, J. N. G.; Halim, M.; Lupton, J. M.; Burn, P. L.; Samuel, I. D. W. *Macromolecules* 1999, *32*, 5985.
- (111) Sengupta, S.; Sadhukhan, S. K.; Singh, R. S.; Pal, N. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 1117.
- (112) Cano-Marín, A. R.; Díez-Barra, E;, Rodríguez-López, J. *Tetrahedron* 2005, 61, 395.

- (113) Itami, K.; Tonogaki, K.; Nokami, T.; Ohashi, Y.; Yoshida, J. I. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 2404.
- (114) Chow, H. F.; Ng, M. K.; Leung, C. W.; Wang, G. X. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 12907.
- (115) Sengupta, S.; Sadhukhan, S. K.; Singh, R. S.; Pal, N. Tetrahedon Lett. 2002, 43, 1117.
- (116) Deb, S. K.; Maddux, T. M.; Yu, L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 9079.
- (117) Halim, M.; Pillow, J. N. G.; Burn, P. L.; Samuel, I. D. W. Adv. Mater. 1999, 11, 371.
- (118) Pålsson, L. O.; Beavington, R.; Frampton, M. J.; Lupton, J. M.; Magennis, S. W.; Markham, J. P. J.; Pillow, J. N. G.; Burn, P. L.; Samuel, I. D. W. *Macromolecules* **2002**, *35*, 7891.
- (119) Lupton, J. M.; Samuel, I. D. W.; Beavington, R.; Burn, P. L.; Bässler, H. Adv. Mater. 2001, 13, 258.
- (120) Lupton, J. M.; Samuel, I. D. W.; Beavington, R.; Frampton, M. J.; Burn, P. L.; Bässler, H. Phys. Rev. B 2001, 63, 155206.
- (121) Lupton, J. M.; Samuel, I. D. W.; Burn, P. L.; Mukamel, S. J. Phys. Chem. B 2002, 106, 7647.
- (122) Beavington, R.; Frampton, M. J.; Lupton, J. M.; Burn, P. L.; Samuel, I. D. W. Adv. Funct. Mater. 2003, 13, 211.
- (123) Meier, H.; Holst, H. C.; Oehlhof, A. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 4173.
- (124) Wei, P.; Bi, X.; Wu, Z.; Xu. Z. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 3199.
- (125) Itami, K.; Tonogaki, K.; Ohashi, Y.; Yoshida, J. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 4093.
- (126) Kim, C. K.; Song, E. S.; Kim, H. J.; Park, C.; Kim, Y. C.; Kim, J. K.; Yu, J. W.; Kim, C. J. Polym. Sci., Part A: Polym. Chem. 2006, 44, 254.
- (127) Hwang, G. T.; Kim, B. H. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 2669.
- (128) Lupton, J. M.; Samuel, I. D. W.; Frampton, M. J.; Beavington, R.; Burn, P. L. Adv. Funct. Mater. 2001, 11, 287.
- (129) Lim, S. J.; Seok, D. Y.; An, B. K.; Jung, S. D.; Park, S. Y. Macromolecules 2006, 39, 9.
- (130) Lin, T.; He, Q.; Bai, F.; Dai, L. Thin Solid Films 2000, 363, 122.
- (131) Bai, F.; Zheng, M.; Lin, T.; Yang, J.; He, Q.; Li, Y.; Zhu, D. Synth. Met. 2001, 119, 179.
- (132) He, Q.; Huang, H.; Bai, F.; Cao, Y. Macromol. Rapid Commun. 2006, 27, 302.
- (133) He, Q.; Bai, F.; Yang, J.; Lin, H.; Huang, H.; Yu, G.; Li, Y. *Thin Solid Films* **2002**, *417*, 183.
- (134) He, Q.; Huang, H.; Sun, Q.; Lin, H.; Yang, J.; Bai, F. Polym. Adv. Technol. 2004, 15, 43.
- (135) Segura, J. L.; Giacalone, F.; Gómez, R.; Martín, N.; Guldi, D. M.; Luo, C.; Swartz, A.; Riedel, I.; Chirvase, D.; Parisi, J.; Dyakonov, V.; Sariciftci, N. S.; Padinger, F. *Mater. Sci. Eng.*, C 2005, 25, 835.
- (136) Kimura, M.; Shiba, T.; Muto, T.; Hanabusa, K.; Shirai, H. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 6809.
- (137) Kimura, M.; Shiba, T.; Yamazaki, M.; Hanabusa, K.; Shirai, H.; Kobayashi, N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 5636.
- (138) Akai, I.; Nakao, H.; Kanemoto, K.; Karasawa, T.; Hashimoto, H.; Kimura, M. J. Lumin. 2005, 112, 449.
- (139) Markham, J. P. J.; Lo, S. C.; Magennis, S. W.; Burn, P. L.; Samuel, I. D. W. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2002, 80, 2645.
- (140) Lo, S. C.; Anthopoulos, T. D.; Namdas, E. B.; Burn, P. L.; Samuel, I. D. W. Adv. Mater. 2005, 17, 1945.
- (141) Lo, S. C.; Namdas, E. B.; Burn, P. L.; Samuel, I. D. W. Macromolecules 2003, 36, 9721.
- (142) Anthopoulos, T. D.; Frampton, M. J.; Namdas, E. B.; Burn, P. L.; Samuel, I. D. W. Adv. Mater. 2004, 16, 557.
- (143) Frampton, M. J.; Namdas, E. B.; Lo, S. C.; Burn, P. L.; Samuel, I. D. W. J. Mater. Chem. 2004, 14, 2881.
- (144) Lo, S. C.; Richards, G. J.; Markham, J. P. J.; Namdas, E. B.; Sharma, S.; Burn, P. L.; Samuel, I. D. W. Adv. Funct. Mater. 2005, 15, 1451.
- (145) Lo, S. C.; Male, N. A. H.; Markham, J. P. J.; Magennis, S. W.; Salata, O. V.; Samuel, I. D. W.; Burn, P. L. Adv. Mater. 2002, 14, 975.
- (146) Bauer, R. E.; Grimsdale, A. C.; Müllen, K. Top. Curr. Chem. 2005, 245, 253.
- (147) Cumpstey, N.; Bera, R. N.; Burn, P. L.; Samuel, I. D. W. Macromolecules 2005, 38, 9564.
- (148) Bera, R. N.; Cumpstey, N.; Burn, P. L.; Samuel, I. D. W. Adv. Funct. Mater., in press.
- (149) Markham, J. P. J.; Namdas, E. B.; Anthopoulos, T. D.; Samuel, I. D. W.; Richards, G. J.; Burn, P. L. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2004, 85, 1463.
- (150) Namdas, E. B.; Anthopoulos, T. D.; Samuel, I. D. W.; Frampton, M. J.; Lo, S. C.; Burn, P. L. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2005, 86, 161104.
- (151) Niu, Y. H.; Chen, B.; Kim, T. D.; Liu, M. S.; Jen, A. K. Y. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2004, 85, 5433.
- (152) Huang, C.; Zhen, C. G.; Su, S. P.; Loh, K. P.; Chen, Z. K. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 391.
- (153) Qu, J.; Zhang, J.; Grimsdale, A. C.; Müllen, K.; Jaiser, F.; Yang, X.; Neher, D. *Macromolecules* **2004**, *37*, 8297.

- (154) Beavington, R.; Frampton, M. J.; Lupton, J. M.; Burn, P. L.; Samuel, I. D. W. Adv. Funct. Mater. 2003, 13, 211.
- (155) Cao, X. Y.; Liu, X. H.; Zhou, X. H.; Zhang, Y.; Jiang, Y.; Cao, Y.; Cui, Y. X.; Pei, J. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 6050.
- (156) Lo, S. C.; Namdas, E. B.; Shipley, C. P.; Markham, J. P. J.; Anthopolous, T. D.; Burn, P. L.; Samuel, I. D. W. Org. Electron. 2006, 7, 85.
- (157) Ding, J.; Gao, J.; Cheng, Y.; Xie, Z.; Wang, L.; Ma, D.; Jing, X.; Wang, F. Adv. Funct. Mater. 2006, 16, 575.
- (158) Loiseau, F.; Campagna, S.; Hameurlaine, A.; Dehaen, W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 11352.
- (159) McClenaghan, N. D.; Passalacqua, R.; Loiseau, F.; Campagna, S.; Verheyde, B.; Hameurlaine, A.; Dehaen, W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 5356.
- (160) Liu, X. M.; Xu, J.; Lu, X.; He, C. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 2829.
- (161) Petrella, A.; Cremer, J.; De Cola, L.; Bäuerle, P.; Williams, R. M. J. Phys. Chem. A 2005, 109, 11687.
- (162) Cremer, J.; Bäuerle, P. J. Mater. Chem. 2006, 16, 874.
- (163) Xiao, Y.; Liu, L.; He, C.; Chin, W. S.; Lin, T.; Mya, K. Y.; Huang, J.; Lu, X. J. Mater. Chem. 2006, 16, 829.
- (164) Kreger, K.; Jandke, M.; Strohriegl, P. Synth. Met. 2001, 119, 163.
- (165) Thomas, K. R. J.; Velusamy, M.; Lin, J. T.; Chuen, C. H.; Tao, Y. T. J. Mater. Chem. 2005, 15, 4453.
- (166) Kanibolotsky, A. L.; Berridge, R.; Skabara, P. J.; Perepichka, I. J.; Bradley, D. D. C.; Koeberg, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 13695.
- (167) Lai, W. Y.; Chen, Q. Q.; He, Q. Y.; Fan, Q. L.; Huang, W. Chem. Commun. 2006, 1959.
- (168) Lai, W. Y.; Zhu, R.; Fan, Q. L.; Hou, L. T.; Cao, Y.; Huang, W. Macromolecules 2006, 39, 3707.
- (169) Pang, J.; Tao, Y.; Freiberg, S.; Yang, X. P.; D'Iorio, M.; Wang, S. J. Mater. Chem. 2002, 12, 206.
- (170) Li, B.; Li, J.; Fu, Y.; Bo, Z. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 3430.
- (171) Duan, X. F.; Wang, J. L.; Pei, J. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 4071.
- (172) Kreger, K.; Jandke, M.; Strohriegl, P. Synth. Met. 2001, 119, 163.
- (173) Liu, Q. D.; Jia, W. L.; Wu, G.; Wang, S. Organometallics 2003, 22, 3781.
- (174) Jia, W. L.; Hu, Y. F.; Gao, J.; Wang, S. Dalton Trans. 2006, 1721.
- (175) Liu, X. M.; Lin, T.; Huang, J.; Hao, X. T.; Ong, K. S.; He, C. Macromolecules 2005, 38, 4157.
- (176) Li, J.; Bo, Z. Macromolecules 2004, 37, 2013.

- (177) Cao, X. Y.; Zhou, X. H.; Hong, Z.; Pei, J. *Macromolecules* **2004**, *37*, 8874.
- (178) Xin, Y.; Wen, G. A.; Zeng, W. J.; Zhao, L.; Zhu, X. R.; Fan, Q. L.; Feng, J. C.; Wang, L. H.; Wei, W.; Peng, B.; Cao, Y.; Huang, W. *Macromolecules* **2005**, *38*, 6755.
- (179) Ding, L.; Bo, Z.; Chu, O.; Li, J.; Dai, L.; Pang, Y.; Karasz, F. E.; Durstock, M. F. *Macromol. Chem. Phys.* **2006**, 207, 870.
- (180) Mitchell, W.; Kopidakis, N.; Rumbles, G.; Ginley, D. S.; Shaheen, S. E. J. Mater. Chem. 2005, 15, 4518.
- (181) Xu, M. H.; Pu, L. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 6347.
- (182) Kopidakis, N.; Mitchell, W. J.; Van de Lagemaat, J.; Ginley, D. S.; Rumbles, G.; Shaheen, S. E.; Rance, W. L. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 2006, 89, 103524.
- (183) Roquet, S.; Cravino, A.; Leriche, P.; Alévêque, O.; Frère, P.; Roncali, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 3459.
- (184) Cremer, J.; Bäuerle, P. J. Mater. Chem. 2006, 16, 874.
- (185) Bettignies, R.; Nicolas, Y.; Blanchard, P.; Levillain, E.; Nunzi, J. M.; Roncali, J. Adv. Mater. 2003, 15, 1939.
- (186) Locklin, J.; Patton, D.; Deng, S.; Baba, A.; Millan, M.; Advincula, R. C. Chem. Mater. 2004, 16, 5187.
- (187) Yin, S.; Yi, Y.; Li, Q.; Yu, G.; Liu, Y.; Shuai, Z. J. Phys. Chem. A 2006, 110, 7138.
- (188) Tang, B. Z.; Zhan, X. W.; Yu, G.; Lee, P. P. S.; Liu, Y. Q.; Zhu, D. B. J. Mater. Chem. 2001, 11, 2974.
- (189) Chen, H.; Lam, J. W. Y.; Luo, J.; Ho, Y. L.; Tang, B. Z.; Zhu, D.; Wong, M.; Kwok, H. S. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2002, 81, 574.
- (190) Yu, G.; Yin, S.; Liu, Y.; Chen, J.; Xu, X.; Sun, X.; Ma, D.; Zhan, X.; Peng, Q.; Shuai, Z.; Tang, B.; Zhu, D.; Fang, W.; Luo, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 6335.
- (191) Chen, J.; Peng, H.; Law, C. C. W.; Dong, Y.; Lam, J. W. Y.; Williams, I. D.; Tang, B. Z. Macromolecules 2003, 36, 4319.
- (192) Lee, J.; Yuan, Y. Y.; Kang, Y.; Jia, W. L.; Lu, Z. H.; Wang, S. Adv. Funct. Mater. 2006, 16, 681.
- (193) Aubouy, L.; Huby, N.; Wantz, G.; Vignau, L.; Hirsch, L.; Guérin, C.; Gerbier, P. C. R. Chim. 2005, 8, 1262.
- (194) Mi, B.; Dong, Y.; Li, Z.; Lam, J. W. Y.; Häuβler, M.; Sung, H. H. Y.; Kwok, H. S.; Dong, Y.; Williams, I. D.; Liu, Y.; Luo, Y.; Shuai, Z.; Zhu, D.; Tang, B. Z. *Chem. Commun.* **2005**, 3583.

CR050136L